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ABSTRACT

Eureka was central Nevada's most prominent mining district
during the 1870s and 1880s, and the first major lead producer 1in
the United States. At its height, the town had a population of
about 6000 and contained numerous hotels, restaurants, and
saloons, four churches, several newspapers, two banks, a rail
head, and an opera house. Many historical buildings from that
time period still remain in the town which has been designated a
National Register District,

During the summer of 1985, a inventory of the buildings and a
brief historical archaeological survey were conducted under the
auspices of the Nevada Historical Society for the Division of
Historic Preservation and Archaecology, Carson City. A total of
145 historical buildings was identified and recorded in the town.
Historical research indicates that many of the buildings were
erected over a century ago, This report presents the results

these investigations.
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[NTRODUCTION

The FEureka Mining District in central Nevada was the first
major lead producer in the United States until exceeded by
Leadville, Colorado (Ingalls 1907:1052; Couch and Carpenter
1943:59; Lincoln 1923:88). Between 1869 and 1883, the mines
produced about $60,000,000 in gold and silver, and about 225,000
tons of lead (Curtis 1884:xiii). The district is also considered
to be the birthplace of American silver-lead smelting technology
(Ingalls 1907:1052). As of 1879, there were 16 furnaces in the
town with a total smelting capacity 925 tons (Molinelli 1879:25-
26)., With these numerous smelters belching smoke into the air, it
is no wonder that Lureka was called the "Pittsburg of the West."

In the 1870s and 1880s, Eureka was a cosmopolitan city
boasting numerous hotels, restaurants, churches, several
newspapers, a rail head, and an opera house. Italians, Cornish,
Jewish, and Chinese comprised major ethnic groups which maintained
many traditional customs lending an international air to the
community. A tourist guide described Eureka in 1884 as, "a town
with a population of 6,000, great enterprise, public spirit and

prosperity"” (Shearer 1884:199).

Eureka is probably the best preserved mining town in Nevada

outside of Virginia City. Unlike Virginia City, however, Eureka
has not succumbed to <commercialism and retains many fine
historical buildings erected over a century ago during the town's

heyday.




LOCATION AND SETTING

Located on U. S. Highway 50 about 250 miles east of Reno and
320 miles southwest of Salt Lake City, the town today serves as
the county seat of Eureka County and has a population of about
700, It is situated at about 6500 feet (1981 meters) elevation in
Eureka Canyon at the base of the Diamond Range which attains a
maximum height of 10,614 feet (3225 meters) on Diamond Peak only
10 miles (16 kilometers) away. Diamond Valley lies to the north,
and the Fish Creek Range is to the south and west.

Vegetation in the area is characteristic of the sagebrush

(Artemisia tridentata) and pinyon-juniper (Pinus monophylla;

Juniperus osteosperma) communities (cf. Billings 1951; Cronquist

et, al; 1972). Mountain mahogany (Cercocarpus ledifolius) and

limber pine (Pinus flexilis) occur at higher elevations,

Bristlecone pines (Pinus longaeva) which are the oldest 1living
trees in the world and limited to a few high ranges in the Great
Basin have even been reported from Prospect Mountain above Eureka.
Many bristlecones were unfortunately cut down in the 1870s for

mine timbers (Sargent 1879:419-420 ; Young and Budy 1979:114).

NATIONAL REGISTER DISTRICT

In recognition of the town's historical significance, Eureka
was designated a National Register District on April 13, 1973,
The Eureka Historic District covers the town and surroundingp

terrain in an area 1.6 miles north-south by .8 mile east-west.
o
The boundaries of the distriet are as follows: NW corner--115
o o
58'20" longitude, 39 31'35" 1latitude: NE corner--115 57'25"
(o) (o]

longitude, 39 31'35" latitude; SE corner--115 57'25" longitude,




0 0 0
39 30'00" lattitude; SW corner--115 58'20" longitude, 39 30'00"

latitude. The approximate legal description si TI9N, R53E,
Section 13, S 1/2 NW 1/4 NW 1/4, SW 1/4 NW 1/4, W 1/2 SW 1/4;
Section 14, S 1/2 NE 1/4 NE 1/4, S 1/2 NW 1/4 NE 1/4, S 1/2 NE
1/4, SE 1/4: Section 23, NE 1/4, N 1/2 SE 1/4; and Section 24, W
1/2 NW 1/4, NW 1/4 SW 1/4; USGS Eureka, Nevada, 15' series, 1953.

The majority of the historic district consists of private
lands which form the Eureka Townsite. The townsite was surveyed
in the mid-1930s by the U. S. Department of Interior General Land
Office and a plat map was drafted. 1In 1947, clear title was given
to land owners in the townsite. Small portions of the northern
and southern ends of the Eureka Historic District are lands
administered by the USDI, Bureau of Land Management, Battle
Mountain District Office, Battle Mountaln, Nevada.

Since Eureka has been listed in the National Register of
Historic Places, the town is recognized as one of the Nation's
cultural resources that is worthy of preservation and protection.
For this reason, the effects of federally funded projects that
occur in the historic district have to be considered as specified
by the National Preservation Act of 1966, as amended and
implemented by Section 106 of 36 CFR 800; supplementary Advisory
Council on Illistoric Preservation guidelines; Executive Order
11593; and the Archaeological Resources Protection Act of 1979,
For private property owners, the fact that their buildings are
listed on the National Register makes them eligible for federal

historic preservation grants,




PROJECT HISTORY AND PURPOSE

At the time the Eureka Historic District was listed on the
National Register, only a nomination form was completed, and no
formal building inventory was conducted. In November 1980 and
January 1981, an inventory of the district was initiated by Ana
Koval and Charles Zeler who were then both with the Nevada
Division of Historic Preservation and Archeology, Carson City.

They were able to briefly inventory 121 historical buildings in

Eureka during their surveys, but the project was never completed.

The 1985 Eureka Historical Building and Archaeological Survey
arose from the need to complete the building inventory and provide
a feport on the historical and archacological properties in the
district to support the National Register nomination. During the
past five years, the now-defunct MX plan and new mining ventures
such as proposed at Mt. lHope by Exxon Minerals Company have
indirectly threatened the integrity of buildings in the FEureka
lllstoric District (cl. James and Elston 1984 and other reports in
Mt. Hope Molybdenum Project, BLM Battle Mountain, Cultural
Resources Technical Report No. 7). 1In fact, as a result of people
moving into Eureka for mining or other reasons, several historic
buildings have been torn down and replaced with mobile homes since
the initial 1980 inventory. The Division of Historic Preservation
and Archeology has needed a report on the historic resources in
Eureka in order to assist in effectively managing and preserving
the historic district.

The 1985 project was funded with the assistance of a matching
grant (seventy percent) from the Department of Interior, National

Park Service provided by the Nevada Division of llistoric




Preservation and Archaeology. Thirty percent of the matching
grant was funded by the Nevada Historical Society. The grant
was awarded to Fugene llattori and administered by the Nevada
Historical Society under Director Peter Bandurraga. Before the
project was scheduled to begin, however, Hattori accepted
employment with Bechtel Corp. in San Francisco. Steven James was
then asked to direct the project and gladly agreed to do so,
particularly because of his long standing research interest in the

archaeology and history of eastern Nevada. At the same time,

Donald Hardesty, anthropology professor at the University of

Nevada, Reno, was asked to participate because of his expertise
and research in the historic archaeology of the region.

The report is divided into three major sections. The first
socction is a historical overview of Fureka with most of the
emphasis on the boom years, 1870 to 1890. Next, the results of
the building inventory is summarized and specific historic data on
over forty buildings are presented. The third section 1is a
discussion of the historic archaeological resources in the Eureka
Mining District, an area that is much larger than the boundaries
of the National Register District but is essential to
understanding the town. An appendix of historical place names in
the Eureka Mining District and their origin is also provided. The
authors feel that the information presented in this report will be
useful to researchers and cultural resource managers alike. Much
of the data on the historical buildings in Eureka, for instance,
contains documentary research that is not available in any

published source.




HISTORY OF EUREKA

DISCOVERY AND EARLY MINING DEVELOPMENTS

The Eureka vicinity was first described on July 12, 1859, by
Captain James H, Simpson of the U.,S. Army Corps of Topographical
Engineers when it was still in Utah Territory (Simpson 1876:113-
1149, While exploring for a wagon route across the Great Basin,
the expedition camped in Eureka Canyon (Simpson's McCarthy's Creek
and Canyon) on July 12th and the next day crossed the Diamond
Range (his We-a-bah Mountains), north of the present route of
U.S. Highway 50. Simpson remarked in his journal published 1in
1876:

Indeed, the valley of McCarthy's Creek furnishes the best

exhibition of mountain and bottom grass I have seen. It

is almost inexhaustible...Cedar fuel, convenient, as also

good limestone in lower portion of McCarthy's Canon, and a

whitish tufa in lower portion, good for building purposes,

available. This tufa so soft as to be easily sawed into
blocks of suitable size, and so light as to be easily
transported, Indeed, there are all the requisites in this

valley of a good dragoon post,..(Simpson 1876:114),

While Simpson recognized the canyon's potential as a site for
dragoon post, little did he realize that within twelve years it
would be a mining boomtown.

Spurred on by the discovery of the Comstock lLode 1in 1859,
prospectors focused much of their attention on central Nevada. In
1862, the Reese River Mining District and town of Austin were
established, followed the next year by the Cortez Mining District,

about 56 miles northeast of Austin. The Eureka Mining District,

then in Lander County, was formed in September, 1864, when an ore

ledge was discovered in New York Canyon above the future town by

the Tannehill prospecting party from Austin (Angel 1881:426; llague




1892:6; Molinelli 1879:11-12). The silver ore, which had to be
transported to Austin 80 miles to the west for milling and
refining, also contained large quantities of lead and required
smelting, a technology which was not prefected for use on Nevada
ores for several more years. Due to this difficulty, 1little
interest was generated by the initial discovery and the mining
district languished for several years (Browne 1868:411; Hague
1870:405).

Between 1864 and 1868 only 130 claims were recorded in the
district, and the original discovers sold the Eureka Mining Co. in
1865 to New York capitalists represented by Major W. W. McCoy
(Angel 1881:426; Curtis 1884:3). Sporadic financial attempts by
the New York group to mill the lead-silver ore failed despite
large outlays of cash and formation of the Eureka Smelting Company
(Angel 1881:426, 439; Molinelli 1879:12). The Eureka Smelting
Company's furnace was built at the later site of Reinhart and
Company's feed mill (Angel 1881:439). In 1866, Moses Wilson
unsuccessfully attempted to smelt ore at the Roslin Furnace site
(Angel 1881:431). In 1868, Morris, Monroe, and Company had C. A.
Stetefeldt construct a furnacej; but, when completed in 1869, it
also failed because of an insufficient blast and poor lining
material (Molinelli 1879:15; Angel 1881:431). Stetefeldt's
furnace later succeeded in October, 1869, in Reno, thus playing an
instrumental role in the development of the Reese River milling
process (Oberbillig 1967:32-35).

During this time, the White Pine "excitement”" at Treasure

Hill and Hamilton, thirty-five miles southeast of Eureka, broughf

renewed interest in the Eureka Mining District. In 1869, 354




claims were located, many of which were developed into mines
(Angel 1881:426). Rich ore bodies encountered at Ruby Hlill and
Adams Hill in the district made the 1864 discovery site in New
York Canyon near the Seventy-six mine seem insignificant,

Major McCoy acquired the Morris, Monroe and Company property
in 1869. Under the direction of R. P. Jones and John Williams, who
had experience in Wales, McCoy had the Stetefeldt furnace lined
with refractory stone from the Pancake Range, twenty miles
southeast of Eureka. As a result, successful smelting operations
began in July, 1869. Later that year, Colonel David E. Buel and
Issac C. Bateman bonded the Buckeye and Champion mines on Ruby
Hill, and Colonel G. Collier Robbins purchased the Kentuck and
Mountain Boy mines. Buel and Robbins, both representing the

Buttercup Mining Company of New York, successfully began smelting

operations in FEureka. Buel and Bateman leased from McCoy the

Lureka Company's [urnace, which along with their mines later
formed the nucleus of the Eureka Consolidated Mining Company. The
Eureka Consolidated smelter was first fired on Apedhd UES; | R
Robbins built a draft furnace to smell ores from the Mountain Boy
mine, Shortly after these successess two additional mills
opened, the Marcelina and the Wallace and Bevan mills. In May and
June of 1870, the five Eureka District mills had smelted 859 tons
of ore amounting to over $313,402 in bullion (Molinelli 1879:15-
16; 'Angel 1881:429-431: Curtis 1884:3),
GROWTH OF THE TOWN

The 1870 rush to Eureka ushered in an influx of miners And

merchants. In January, 1870, first postmaster George Haskell




named the town Napais, a Shoshoni word for silver, but changed it
to Eureka only several weeks later (Molinelli 1879:23; Angel
1881:440; Frickstad and Thrall 1958:9, 21: Harris 1973:38). Major
W. W. McCoy (southern portion) and Alonzo Monroe (northern
portion) owned and surveyed the original townsite. Later, the
Robbins and O'Neil survey on the west and the McDonald survey on
the east extended the town's boundaries (Molinelli 1879:18; Angel
1881:439).

Early structures consisted of log cabins, adobes, and tents.
In 1865, the Tannehill Company built the first log cabin, which
later served as the first store, run by Nathan and Harrison. The
first hotel in Eureka, the two-story Parker House, was moved from
Austin, where it had served as the overland stage station and
stable. It was initially at the north end of town across from the
Fureka Consolidated smelter, but was later moved next door to
where the present day Chevron Station is located. The first post
office was established in the Parker House on January 18, o 180

with George S. Haskell as postmaster (Eureka Daily Leuder,

December 31, 1879; Angel 1881:439; Frickstad and Thrall 1958:9,
21:  Harris 1973:38). Many other buildings were also moved from
elsewhere in the region. For example, of forty-three houses
erected in one week in 1870, there were 12 from Hamilton, 4 from
Treasure City, 16 from Sherman, 3 from Carlin, and 3 from Elko

(Eureka Sentinel, July 23, 1870, cited in Angel 1881:439). By

October, 1870, the town's population had grown to about 2,000 from

fifty the year before (Hague 1870:405; Molinelli 1879:13).

Eureka became an important transportation and supply center

for east central and southeastern Nevada. Stage service connecting
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the town with Austin and Hamilton was started in 1869 by John A.
Wilson. In the spring of 1870, Woodruff and Fnnor established a
stage line between Palisade on the Central Pacific Railroad and
Hamilton 1in the White Pine Mining District. Stage connections
from Elko to Eureka and Hamilton were provided by Beachey, Wines,
and Company in August, 1870. When the Eureka and Palisade
Railroad was completed in 1875, Eureka became the depot for
passenger and freight lines between towns such as Austin, Belmont,
Tybo, Morey, Hot Creek, Tempiute, Pioche, Hamilton, Mineral City,
Ward, and Osceola (Molinelli 1879:12-13; Angel 1881:285, 439).
Freight teams at the time had eighteen mules pulling three to four
wagons weighing 30,000 to 40,000 pounds each (Crofutt 1878:156-
157 . Mules were wintered at the 2,500 acre Hay Ranch in Pine
Valley which produced some 600 to 1000 tons of hay during the
summer (Crofutt 1878:156; Angel 1881:285).

The Eureka and Palisade Railroad Company (EPRR) was formed on
November 19, 1873, by Erastus Woodruff, William Ennor, Monroe
Salisbury, John T. Gilmer, C. H. llemstead, and J. R. Withington

(Angel 1881:284; Myrick 1963:90). Construction then began on the

eighty-four mile narrow gauge route from the Central Pacific yards

at Palisade to Eureka. 1In 1874, D. 0. Mills, Edgar Mills, William
Sharon, A. K. P, Harmon, John Shaw, Issac L. Requa, and Thomas
Bell took control of the company (Angel 1881:284), The railway
construction reached Alpha at the end of 1874, a distance of about
forty-five miles, and the EPRR was officially completed on
October 22, 1875 (Myrick 1962:91). Because of the production and

shipment of lead throughout the United States, the railroad was




particularly important to the mining district. Earlier, 1in
1875, the Eureka and Ruby Hill narrow gauge railroad had
completed between the Eureka Consolldated mines on Ruby Iill and
their smelter at the north end of Eureka, a distance of three
miles (Myrick 1962:91). It was purchased by the EPRR later that
year.,

The success of the Eureka and Palisade Railroad during the
boom years encouraged some of the officers and investors to begin
construction of a railroad extension to Callville on the Colorado
River in 1881 (Angel 1881:438-439). The Eureka and Colorado River
Railroad, however, was a_ little too late to be economical and
plans for it were abandoned after the completion of ten miles of
grading (Angel 1881:288; Myrick 1962:99). Portions of this work
are still visible as one drives ecastward along Highway 50 from

Eureka. Another railroad which never went beyond the planning

stages was the Nevada Midland Railroad. In 1881, the company,

which included G. L. Wines as president, William F. Colton as
secretary, and R. C. Lather as chief engincer, developed only a
map of the proposed route westward from Fureka along present-day
Highway 50 (Map dated Oct. 27, 1881, original on file at Fureka
County Recorder's Office).

The Nevada state legislature passed an act separating FREureka
County from Lander County on March 1, 1873, with Eureka as the
county seat (Molinelli 1879:11). The township of Eureka was
incorporated by the state legislature on March 1, 1877 (Angel
1881:439).

In 1878, the 1issuance of business licenses reflected the

"healthy" tenor of the community--325 liquor licenses, 366
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merchandise 1licenses, 157 hotel and lodging house licenses, 25
gambling licenses, 32 livery stable licenses, 6 bank licenses, and
15 theater and show licenses (Angel 1881:438). In 1882, the
Corner Chop Stand at the rear of today's First Interstate Bank
advertised the finest fowl, wild game, oysters, etc. at all hours
of the day or night (McKenney 1882:642). Dessert <could be
obtained on Main Street at Brown and Godfrey's Restaurant
Confectionery, also open day and night (McKenney 1882:641).
nighttime hours of operations were due to split shifts in

mines and the twenty-four hour operation of the smelters. To

allow a smelter furnace to cool involved a costly start-up process

which was to be avoided if at all possible.
MINERS AND CHARCOAL BURNERS

The rich, deeply buried ores at Ruby Hill required special
extraction techniques. The most skilled "hardrock" miners in the
world were the tin miners from Cornwall, many of whom had already
come to Nevada to work Ln the Comstock. The lures to do such hard
and dangerous - work in a "wild and wooly" place like Nevada were
high wages and full employment--twice the rate of pay in England.
The "Cousin Jacks," as they were called, made four dollars for a
ten-hour shift in Eureka (Curtis 1884:150). As a result, the
Cornish were a dominant segment of the FEureka work force,
estimated at 600 in 1881 (Rowe 1974:191). Many of them were
"birds of passage" who came to the American West with hopes of
someday returning to their families in England with enough money

to live comfortably (Rowe 1974:191-192).




Most of the general exploration and mine development in the
country rock was performed by miners paid under contract. Under
this system of labor, the companies furnished the timber, lumber,
and tools, while the contractors supplied candles, powder, and
fuses (Curtis 1884:150). The amount of money made by these miners
depended upon how many feet of rock were excavated in a day. The
rock's hardness and the equipment used influenced the amount paid
to the contractor. The economics of this system were usually
slightly in favor of the company and managed to average a little
less than four dollars per shift (Curtis 1884:150).

The Ruby Hill Miners' Union was organized on October 16,
1873, 1In response to antlciputed hurd times caused by an lInterval
of decreased ore yields, demonitization of silver, and potential
wage reductions, Although the mines did not attempt to lower
wages at the time, the unions maintained their organization aad

solidified their power base, In 1876, the British-owed Richmond

Mining Company, feeliﬁg the weakness in the silver market despite

acceptable yields, attempted to pay the miners in U. S. trade
dollars. Unlike gold coins, the value of trade dollars floated
according to the value of the silver they contained. Thus, in a
depressed silver market their value was depreciated accordingly.
The union resisted this change, and Superintendent Richard Rickard
discharged the men paid daily wages and let the work out to
independent contractors. The miners struck both the company and
the contractors. Work in the Richmond mines ceased. But an
agreement was soon reached with the miners to pay them 1in gold,
and they returned to work for both the Richmond Mining Co. and the

independent contractors (Lingenfelter 1974:79, 135).




An important mining-related industry in the region was the
production of charcoal to fuel the Eureka smelters. Charcoal was
made by cutting local pinyon and juniper stands and burning the
wood in open pits or in kilns. One cord of pinyon produced between
twenty-eight and thirty-three bushels of charcoal. Annual
comsumption of charcoal in the 1870s was estimated at 1.2 million
bushels. Widespread deforestation occurred as a result so that by

1878 the mountains around Eureka were denuded of pinyon and

juniper within a radius of thirty-five miles (Whitehill 1879:27;

Young and Budy 1979:117).

The majority of those employed as woodcutters and charcoal
burners were Ifalian and Swiss«Italian immigrants, Some of these
men had carried out this trade in Italy or Switzerland and were
brought to Fureka for this purpose (Earl 1969:55). By about 1878,

the Eureka Daily Sentinel estimated that there were 800 charcoal

burners, ninety percent of whom were foreigners, employed by
less than a dozen firms (Whitehill 1879:27). The charcoal was
hauled by ten teamster companies some of which were owned by
Italian or Swiss-Italian merchants in the town, such as Joseph
Tognini and Company, Joseph Vanina, and Joseph Torre (Whitehill
1879:27; Eureka County Assessor's Records 1880:144, 151; Grazeola
1969:39). Another teamster outfit was owned by German merchant
Reinhold Sadler and Company (Grazeola 1969:37); in later years,
Sadler became governor of Nevada.

The 1lot of the Italian charcoal burners or "carbonari" in
Eureka was not very desirable. They were paid much less than what

the miners received and were apparently pawns in the hands of the
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merchant-teamsters and smelter operators (Earl 1969:55). The
going rate for a charcoal bushel in 1878 was twenty-five cents
delivered ¢to the smelters by the teamsters, On the other hand,
the burners received only about thirteen cents per bushel which
was often <credited to the burners for high priced goods sold by
the teamster companies rather than paying them in <cash (Earl
1969:52, 56-57).

The plight of the charcoal burners came to a head on July 6,
1879 when about 500 of them met in Celso Tatti's saloon on north
Main Street and formed .the TEureka Coalburners Protective

Association (Eureka Daily Leader, July 7, 1879; Reichman 1967:48;

Grazeola 1969:35; Earl 1969, 1979). Parenthetically, the present
historical research has established that this building still
exists today. The Association demanded thirty cents a bushel to
be paid in cash, or they would stop all charcoal production.
During the ensuing weeks, negotiations with the Eureka and
Richmond mining companies were not productive. Several teamsters
were kept from hauling charcoal, and some Ttalians were arrested.
The Nevada militia was finally called out by Governor Kinkead in
mid-August to prevent any major violence. Ironically, on August
18th, a sheriff's posse confronted over a hundred Ttalian burners
at Fish Creek, a major charcoal producing area south of Eureka.
Although accounts differ, the posse apparently opened fire on the
crowd, The 1incident, which became known as the Fish Creek War,
resulted in the deaths of five Italians and wounded six others.

The bodies of the five men were taken to Schwamb's undertaking

establishment 1in town (Eureka Weekly Sentinel, August 30, 1879,

3:2), and later buried in unmarked graves. A maker has only
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recently been placed on their graves in the City cemetery. Murder
charges were filed against the posse, but these were later
dismissed, as were other charges against Italians arrested during
the strike, Within a few months, the entire affair of the
charcoal burners had quieted down and was nearly forgotten (for
further details on the charcoal burners, see Angel 1881:438; Earl
1969, 1979; Grazeola 1969; Shepperson 1969:24-26; Young and Budy
1979).
TOWN DISASTERS

The business districts of early Western mining communites
were 1initially constructed of frame ©buildings closely spaced
together. These crowded conditions often invited destruction from
fires, Fureka was no exception and suffered accordingly on
several occasions, despite the presence of five fire hose
companies-~the Rescue, Knickerbocker, Nob Hill, Eureka Hook and
LLadder, and Richmond (Angel 1881:439). It was only after these
disasters that most brick and stone structures with "fire-proof"
iron shutters and doors were built, Many of these still stand
today.

While small sections of the town were destroyed by several
fires in the early 1870s, the worst one occurred on April 19, 1879

(Eureka Daily Leader, April 19, 1879; Eureka Daily Sentinel, April

20, 1879; Angel 1881:440). The fire started in Bigelow's Opera
House on Buel Street when a lamp exploded in the green room. It
then gpread to the Sentinel office, Masonic Hall, and Western

Union Telegraph, buildings which were all located on Buel Street

at that time,. The flames traveled east and north down Buel,




Spring, and Main streets. Nearly all the buildings in the
northeastern part of town were destroyed, except for the Jackson
House and the front of Jack Perry's saloon on the corners of Main
and Bateman, Paxton and Company's bank on Main, and the Sentinel's
stone job office on Buel. The only fatality was Mr. Moch, of
Moch's restaurant, who was confined to bed and unable to escape.
Total damage was estimated at one million dollars and 2,000 people
were left homeless, The town was rebuilt and aid, both materials
and money, was raised throughout the state.

The following year, on August 17, 1880, another disasterous
fire followed the same path as the 1879 bhlaze, destroying over 300

buildings (Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880; Angel 1881:440-

441)., The fire began in the rear of Mrs. Poplin's fruit and
vegetable store on Main Street, which was located just south of
the present post office, Surviving structures included Jack
Perry's saloon, the Douglas building, the Foley-Rickard building,
Paxton and Company's bank, .Jacob Cohn's store, Schneider's drug
store, and Lautenschlager's saloon. These businesses were on the
east side of Main Street between Bateman and Clark streets, in
buildings that are for the most part still standing today.

Eureka experienced a third major fire on September 22, 1884

(Eureka Daily Sentinel, September 23, 1884; Reichman 1967 £75) .

The blaze, which began in the kitchen of the Parker House
Restaurant, destroyed a number of businesses on the west side of

Main Street between where the Chervon Station and the Sundown

Motel stand today. Buildings lost in the fire, many of which were

never rebuilt, included the famous Parker llouse hotel and

restaurant, Morris Brothers' saloon, ALf NHarris's clothing store,
18




P. Steler's jewelry store, and Woodruff and Ennor's buildings
occupied by the White Pine County Bank and M. Calisher's
stationery store. The fire was stopped by M. J. Franklin and
Company's fire-proof stone building, a structure that was
demolished in recent years to make way for the Sundown Motel.

Floods also devastated many Nevada mining towns. Austin,
Mazama, Rawhide, Dayton, and Pioche were partially or totally
destroyed by floods at various times. Similarly, Eureka had
several major floods in the early years. The potential danger of
FEureka's location in a canyon was increased by the severe
deforestation from charcoal production and the demand for firewood
(cf. Young and Budy 1979; James and Elston 1984:38). Compounding
the problem and increasing the tendeucy toward flooding was the
prevalent pattern of summer thunderstorms.

On July 24, 1874, a 1late morning rainstorm over Eureka
extended wup the canyon, and runoff from two drainages cascaded
down city streets for half an hour (Angel 1881:441). The three-
foot deep torrent carried away or wrecked thirty buildings,
including the Eureka Hall, Eureka Consolidated furnace, and A. E.
Davis's stables. Sixteen people were killed in the disaster.

Exactly two years later on July 24, 1876, a torrent of water

flowed down Spring and Buel streets from the southern end of town

(Angel 1881:441). The flood, fortunately, was contained by the

ditch on Spring Street and little damage was sustained. The
Richmond Company Mill whistle sounded the alarm for a flood on
August 15, 1878 (Angel 1881:441). This early evening flood
originated in Pinto Canyon and swept through town causing about

19




$75,000 1in damage, A minor flood the next day caused
additional $5,000 worth in damage.
AFTER THE MINING BOOM

Nevada's high desert environment often conceals copious
quantities of active and fossil groundwater. Water is the bane of
mining operations. Too much water and mining is hindered, while
too 1little water means both milling and hoisting are hindered.
Eureka was supplied with water from local springs in Eureka
Canyon. At Ruby Hill, an elaborate water system fed by outlying
springs and a reservoir in New York Canyon was established to
bring water to the town and to supply water for the hoisting works
and mill. Then, in 1881, water was encountered at the 765 foot
level of the Eureka Consolidated mine on Ruby Hill Lincoln
1923:89). The Eureka shaft completely flooded in 1882
necessitating permanent pumping operations. The problem with the
water was widespread because the mines were usually connected for
improving ventilation and safety. The Kureka Consolidated water
flowed down a winze to the Richmond mine where it stablized at
about the 1,050 foot depth (Curtis 1884:107). Other Ruby Hills
mines also encountered water which pgreatly increased the nperating
costs (Curtis 1884:Plate [II).

Adding to the water problem was the exhaustion of bonanza ore
bodies. Exploration of new 1leads was hindered by the water

encountered at lower depths. The widespread institution of the

tribute system between 1885 and 1890 epitomized the dire situation

of the mines (Lincoln 1923:89). The 1890s were generally bad
times for Nevada mining. In the Eureka Mining District, the Eureka

Consolidated and Richmond mining operations were charged by the
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federal government with misusing the surrounding pinyon-juniper
woodlands, Because of potential civil and criminal suits against
the FEureka Consolidated and Richmond Companies, both mills
suspended operations in 1889 while the matter was being resolved
(Wren 1889:67). In 1890, the Richmond Smelter closed, and in
1891, the Eureka Smelter followed suit (Lincoln 1923:89).

By the turn of the century, Eureka's population had dwindled
to about 1,000 people. Mining was revived in 1905 when the two
former rival companies were merged as the Richmond-Eureka Mining
Company to rework the old mines. The ore was shipped by rail 380
miles to Salt Lake City for processing at the smelters of the
United States Smelting, Refining and Mining Company (Ingalls
1907).

A description of Eureka during this time is preovided by
geologist Walter Ingalls (1907):

Eureka is not exactly dilapidated. On the contrary it

exhibits rather a trim appearance in spite of the rows

of shops with shutters closed on doors and windows since

many years ago...Indeed,it is a mystery how the town has

lived so well during the long years of stagnation in

mining and has supported the many excellent retail
stores, and two hotels--one particularly good--which it

has today. Even now the number of miners in the

district is only about 200, most of whom live at the

mines and being chiefly foreigners do not spend their
money in the old-fashioned, reckless American way, so

that the tradespeople and saloon-keepers say that

business 1is not materially better than before the mines

were reopened.

Nevertheless, the resurgence was short-lived, and the Richmond-

Eureka operations were curtailed in 1912 (Nolan 1962:3).

Mineral production since then has flucuated depending wupon

the market. Mining developments in later years include work by

the Ruby Hill Development Company in 1919, the Richmond-Eureka
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Company in 1923, and the Eureka Corporation, Ltd., in 1937 (Nolan

1962:3), as well as more recent mining ventures., Another stimulus

to Eureka's economy since World War II has been the agricultural

developments in Diamond Valley.




EUREKA'S HISTORICAL BUILDINGS

INVENTORY RESULTS

From the 1980-81 and 1985 building inventory surveys, 145
historical buildings in Eureka have been identified. Each
building was assigned a number, recorded on an inventory form, and

photographed. Building locations were plotted by block and lot on

a large scale map of Eureka obtained from the County Assessor's

Office. The inventory forms and maps are on file at the Division
of Historic Preservation and Arch eology (HP&A) in Carson City.

The present survey focused on relocating the 121 buildings
identified in the 1980-81 survey, plotting their locations on the
town map which had not been done previously, and completing and
updating the building inventory forms. An additional twenty-four
buildings were recorded that were not listed in the earlier
survey.

Unfortunately, four historical buildings recorded in 1980-81
are no longer standing. These are HP&A Building Nos. 19, 64, 84,
and 117. Building No. 19, a former blacksmith shop, collapsed
from snow in the winter of 1983. The other three buildings were
residences that were apparently demolished, two of which have been
replaced by mobile homes. Additionally, the impressive second
story of the Rickard-Foley-Johnson-Remington Building (HP&A No.
28) downtown on Main Street was demolished in 1983 since the owner
apparently felt it was unsafe. The rear portion of the Masonic
Building (HP&A No. 13) was also removed and a retaining wall has

been built to help stablize the structure.




HISTORICAL BUILDING DATA

The major aspect of the present project determine
historical data on significant buildings in the town, particularly
those on Main Street. Data on over forLy bulldings and important
sites are described in this section. Their locations are shown
on Maps 1 and 2. The majority of the descriptions focus on
extant buildings--when they were built, the type of businesses
that existed in them, and the merchants who ran the stores. Some
locations describe buildings that are no longer standing, but were
well-known places in the ecarly days of RFureka. Before moving on
to the descriptions of these buildings, a discussion of the actual
sources used in this study and the problems encountered are in
order.

Numerous historical sources were examined in order to
ascertain the story behind the buildings. These included Sanborn
maps of Eureka, Eureka County Assessor's Records, historical
business directories, Federal census records, FEureka newspapers,
historical photographs, published  peolopical  and historical
accounts, and conversations and interviews with Eureka residents.
In many ways, the research on the bhuildings was akin te putting
together a complicated jig-saw puzzle. Almost all the pieces were
available, they just had to be found and pieced together from
the historical sources, a matter which turned out to be quite time
consuming.

The business directories and newspaper ads provided the names

of merchants in the town during the 1870s and 1880s, but quite

often it was hard to determine which building they owned or




operated. In these sources, merchants usually only gave Main
Street as their address or sometimes referred to their businesses
in relation to other merchants or buildings which no longer exist
or building names which have changed over the years. For example,
an 1884 newspaper ad for the Oyster Saloon, Chop House and
Confectionery stated the location as "Main street, one door north

of Postoffice" (Ad in Eureka Daily Sentinel, September 23, 1884).

Unfortunately, the post office was located in several buildings
during the 1870s and 1880s making it hard to determine exactly
where on Main Street the Oyster Saloon was. Additional
information was gained by knowing that the proprietors were Brown
and Godfrey, as mentioned in the ad, but only through the use of
other sources could the building be located with any certainity.
Tf Main Street only had addresses, the task would have been much
simplier. But even today, very few Eureka merchants use street
addresses.

By far, the Sanborn maps are the most important data source
on the historical buildings in Eureka. During the nineteenth and

first half of the twentieth century, the Sanborn Map Company

1
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produced maps of the downtown areas of most major cities in the

w-
-

United States for fire insurance companies. These maps, generally
at a scale of fifty feet to the 1inch, 1listed the types of
businesses that were conducted in the buildings; the construction
materials used in the bulildings, i,e.,, wooden frame, brick, or
stone; the number of stories they contained; and other important
data about the structures for fire purposes. Five sets of
Sanborn maps were made of downtown Fureka for the years 1881,

1886, 1890, 1907, and a version of the 1907 map updated to 1941,
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During the present study, two sheets of the 1881 Sanborn maps were

discovered at the Eureka County Recorder's Office. Prior to this,
the 1886 maps were believed to be the earliest Sanborn maps of
Eureka (Moody 1979:134; Library of Congress 1981:369). The other
four sets of maps are only available at the Nevada Historlical
Society and the Library of Congress.

Historical buildings in Eureka were traced back wusing the
Sanborn maps as a means of establishing a relative date for when
they were erected. The types of businesses listed on the maps
were used in conjunction with the other sources to determine the
names of store and building owners.

Another important data source was the Eureka County
‘Assessor's Records. The original records which extend back to 1873
are housed in the attic of the Eureka County Courthouse.
Fortunately, we were allowed complete access to these records,
which proved to be invaluable in the research. The Eureka County
Assessor's Records listed the owners of buildings in the town by
block and lot and whether the buildings were constructed of birdek;
stone, or wood. By determining the hlock and lot of a building
that exists today and checking the Sanborn maps to see if that
building stood in the 1880s, we were able to determine who the
owners of some of the buildings were, These data were then
checked against the newspaper ads and busniess directories for
accuracy and for the type of husiness an owner had. To determine
when a building was constructed, the owners were then traced back
on a year by year basis in the County Assessor's books until a

change 1in the type of structure was noticed. For example, if a




building was a frame structure in 1878 on a particular block and
lot, and in 1879 only a brick structure was assessed on that same
lot, then it was assumed that the brick structure which still
exists today was built between 1878 and 1879. Sometimes the
newspapers from that time noted when the structures were erected,
which helped to narrow the time range.

The County Assessor's Records were found to be faster
following recorded deeds, particularly since ownership data
number of buildings had to be <collected. Nevertheless,
problems were encountered with the assessor's records.
concern changes in the block and lot numbering systems. The
and lot numbers that are used today extend as far back as
with only minor changes such as the addition of other lots in a
block. Prior to 1880, the block and lot numbers are completely
different, and each section of town follows one of four surveys
for the original Eureka Townsite--the Monroe, McCoy, Robbins and
0'Neil, and McDonald surveys (cf. Molinelli 1879:18). As we found
out, the Sanborn maps for 1881, 1886, and 1890 used the block and
lot numbers for the original surveys, and we were able to
correlate the blocks prior to 1880 with the numbers used today.
Later, we discovered in the Eureka County Recorder's Office an
original townsite map from the 1870s showing the earlier block and
lot system which verified our assumptions.

Historical photographs are yet another important research
tool, not only for the subject matter which the photographer

intended to portray, but also for details contained 1in the

background that may have been inadvertently photographed. For




example, the latter has been the focus of several comparative
studies on historic vegetation changes in the Great Basin (Rogers
1982) and Southwest (Hastings and Turner 1965), In another study,
Lawton and Wilke (1977) examined the background of an ethnographic
photograph in an enlargement to discuss aboriginal agriculture on
the Lower Colorado River.

Historical photographs at the Nevada Historical Society and
Eureka County Museum were very helpful in determining where
certain business were located and for other building data.
However, there were problgms with using some of the photographs
that need to be mentioned. Many of the photos are wundated. In
some 1instances, when there were dates, they were inaccurate as
evidenced from other data sources. Similarly, photo captions were

not always correct.

Every attempt has been made to be as accurate as possible in

the historical sketches that follow. For the reasons discussed,
the information presented here is not flawless by any means. -
is hoped that future researchers will build upon what we have
done. Much of the present research focused on the late 1870s and
early 1880s when most of the brick and stone buildings on Main
Street were erected, many of which are still standing today.
Needless to say, historical information from the 1920s to the
present was not researched in great detail, and it would be a good
place for someone to start in the future. We now turn to the

historical data on the significant buildings and sites in Eureka.
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1. EUREKA COUNTY MUSEUM/SENTINEL BUILDING (HP&A Bldg. No. 955)
The Eureka County Museum, which opened on June 19, 1982
(Winzeler and Peppin 1982:2), 1is located in the building once

occupled by the FEureka Sentinel, the town's longest running

newspaper (Figure 3). In the Museum are exhibits and displays that
show what the town was like during the early days. The Museum is
a must for vistors to Eureka. Admission is free, and it is open
to the public throughout the summer months.

The Sentinel Building was designed by architect C. M. Bennett
and was constructed at a cost of $10,000 for the newspaper. The
Sentinel moved here when it was completed in August 1879 from an
earlier location at No. 5 South Buel Street (sce addresses in

subscription section Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 5 and 6, 1879).

The newspaper described their new headquarters as '"the finest

building used as a publication off(ice in the State, or indeed on
the coast ocutside of San Francisco" (Eureka Weekly Sentinel,
August 30, 1879). As were other buildings in town, this two-
story structure was built from locally fired bricks. Similarly,

the stone blocks around the windows, over the doors, and on the
corners were quarried from local voleanic tuff that came from
above the west side of town at Chandler's Quarry. These blocks

were cut by Tom Sheridan (Eureka Weekly Sentinel, August 30,

1879), for whom Sheridan Street is named. The Fureka Sentinel was

published in this building until 1960. An 1872 Fairhaven printing
press, other printing equipment, and historical posters from the
town are 1in the back room of the museum, The County Extension

Service and other offices currently occupy the second floor.
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2. EUREKA COUNTY COURTHOUSE (HP&A Bldg. No. 42)

Between 1871 and 1873, a roller skating rink existed where
the courthouse stands today, The owner then presented the
property to the County (Angel 1881:426). The first courthouse was
a frame building that was was put up for public action in 1880 (Ad

in Eureka Daily Sentinel, .January 3, 1880). The present Lureka

County Courthouse, a two story brick structure, was started in
1879 and was completed in June 1880 at a cost of $55,000 for the
building and about $15,000 for the jail, wvault, and fixtures

(Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1880; Angel 1881:440). At the

time, the courthouse was the finest in state outside of Virginia
City. Iron shutters, which were used in case of fire, are still
present adjacent to the windows and doors. An ornate cornice is
visible on the top of the building. Inside, the courtroom on the
second floor retains its turn-of-the-century style.

The two large bells on either side of the front door were at
one time used by the local volunteer fire companies. One bell was
cast in 1876 at the Buckeye Bell Foundry of Vanduzen and Tift,
Cincinnati, Ohlo. The other is the Farecka Bell east by W, T,
Garratt of San Francisco in 1881.

3. TOMMYKNOCKER SHOP (HP&A Bldg. No. 40)

This red brick bnilding with iron columns was bnilt in 1880
by Mason B. Bartlett who ran a wholesale liquor store here (Eureka
County Assessor's Records [abbreviated below as FECAR] 1879:10,

1880:18; 'Ad in Eureka Daily Sentinel August 18, 1880; McKenney

1882:637; Sanborn Map 1881). In 1890, the building served as a

post office and stationery store, but was vacant by 1907, As of
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1941, 1it was again a post office (Sanborn Maps 1886, 1890, 1907,
1941).

The vacant frame building next door to the north (HP&A Bldg.
No. 41) also has a long history of use dating from the 1880s when
M. B. Bartlett owned it (ECAR 1881:13). It was a grocery store in
1881, a saloon in 1886, and a shoe and harness shop in 1890
(Sanborn Maps 1881, 1886, 1890). 1In the 1920s, Magda States ran
the States Grocery Store here (1924 ad on Eureka Theatre stage
screen; Mabel Anderson, personal communication, 7-13-85).

4, FEUREKA SENTOR CITIZENS CENTER (IP&A Bldg. No. 39)

Beneath the white stﬁcco front of this building is a brick
structure that was erected in the summer of 1880 by Mason B.
Bartlett and B. F. McEwen (ECAR 1879:10, 1880:18, 96). The
original iron fire doors and columns, cast by the local ELureka

Foundry Company in 1880, are still present (Eureka Daily Leader,

June 3, 1880, p. 3). McEwen ran a grocery store here in the early
1880s (McKenney 1882:639; Sanborn Map 1881). Undertaker and
cabinetmaker Peter H. Hjul had a furniture business in the late
1880s and 1890s (McKenney 1886:880; ECAR 1886; Sanborn Maps 1886,
1890). By 1907, a variety store occupied the building, and in the
years before World War II it served as a mortuary (Sanborn Maps
1907, 1941). _ By way of contrast, the new portion of the Senior
Citizens Center next door was completed several vyears ago and
dedicated on July 13, 1985.
5. HISTORICAL TURNER HOUSE/BUREAU HOTEL (HP&A Bldg. No. 38)

_In the 1870s and early 1880s, B. J. Turner had a two-story

frame hotel on this corner known as the Turner Illouse (ECAR

15



1875:196, 1880:142; Ad in Molinelli 1879:116; McKenney 1882:640).
Turner came from Hamilton in White Pine County, Nevada, where he
was proprietor of the Occidental Hotel in 1871 (Langley 1871:357).
P. McElroy acquired the property about 1884 and opened the Bureau
Hotel, an establishment which McElroy previously had operated on

the east side of south Main Street between Silver and Mineral

Streets (McKenney 1882:639, 1886:878, 880; Ad in Eureka Daily
Sentinel, August 24, 1884; Sanborn Map 1881).

The building continued to serve as a lodging house wupstairs
with a resturant and saloon downstairs in the 1890s (Sanborn Map
1890). By 1907, a bakery was operating in the north half of the
first floor, but the rest of the structure was vacant (Sanborn Map
1907). In the 1920s, John Landa operated a grocery store on the
ground floor and a lodging house upstairs (Al Biale, interview, 7-
13-85; Mabel Anderson, personal communication, 7-13-85; 1924 ad on
Eureka Theatre stage screen), The building was still used as a
lodging house prior to World War IT (Sanborn Map 1941), but
sometime after 1949 (cf. Beebe and Clegg 1949:154), the second
story was removed. Original clapboard siding as shown in an 1880s
photo of the Bureau Hotel (Figure 4) is visible in several places
beneath the present  shingle exterior (Note: Beebe and Clegg
[1949:154] published this photo but attributed the stagecoach to
Wells Fargo's Ely-Eureka line when it was really the White Pine
stageline, The authors also designate the large structure in the
background as a "substantial brick warehouse" which is actually

the Eureka County Courthouse).
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Fipure 4. White Pine Stage in front of Bureau Hotel on corner

A portion of the

Courthouse is to the right (Nevada Historical Society,




6. VICTORIAN HOUSE (Private Residence) (HP&A Bldg. No. 36)

This small Victorlan residence on the northeast corner of
Main and Silver Streets was constructed for Mrs. C. C. Wallace in
1887 (ECAR 1887:153; Figure 5). Her husband was County Assessor
and a general business agent in the early 1880s (McKenney
1882:640. Earlier in 1881, a livery and feed stable covered this
end of the block, and a small store owned by J. C. Powell was
present on the corner (ECAR 1880:115; Sanborn Map 1881).
7. HISTORICAL SAN FRANCISCO BREWERY (HP&A Bldg. No. 35)

In the mid-1870s, Rudolph Leuzinger ran the San Francisco

Brewery in this location opposite the Turner louse (Eureka Daily

Sentinel, January 1, 1874). By the late 1870s, Henry Mau and
Company had acquired the brewery and saloon, while Leuzinger
purchased a hardware business down the strecet where Stephenson's
Video Store is today. After the fire of August, 1880, destroyed

their frame building, Mau and Company erected the present brick

structure (ECAR 1880:91; 1881:97; Ad in Molinelli 1879:122; Eureka

Daily Leader, December 31, 1880). Fred Heitman assumed ownership

of the San Francisco Brewery around 1883 (ECAR 1883) and continued
to operate the company with Mau (McKenney 1886:880). After the
turn-of-the-century, Frank J. Brossemer ran the saloon (Polk
1912:97) and bottled soda pop in the rear (Sanborn Map 1907). For
some years after 1941, the Eureka Post Office was l.cated here,
until it was moved up the block to its present location about
1982. The building now serves as an office, Original 1iron

shutters used for fires are present on the side windows.
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Figure 5. Victorian house built about 1887 on corner of Main
and Silver streets. This photograph was probably taken about
that time (Nevada Historical Society, neg. no. 21).
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During the 1870s and 1880s, photographer Louis Monaco ran the
City Photograph Gallery adjacent to the San Francisco Brewery. It
was a two-story frame structure which burned in the 1880 blaze.
Many ecarly historical photographs of Furcka were taken by Louis
Monaco and his brother,

8. EUREKA POST OFFICE (HP&A Bldg. No. 130)

Concealed beneath this modern exterior for the recently
remodeled post office 1is a historical brick building. The
structure was originally erected by Joseph Winzell soon after the
August 17, 1880, fire which started next door to the south at Mrs.
Poplin's fruit stand (ECAR 1880:113, 1881:147; Angel 1881:440;

Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880). William Zadow ran a

butcher shop called the Eureka Market here in the 1880s (Sanborn

Maps 1881, 1886, 1890; Ads in Eureka Daily Sentinel, January 3,

1884, April 11, 1884). Although the front has been modified
extensively, a portion of the orginal window frames are still
visible as shown in an 1880s photo of Zadow's shop (Figure 6).
Inside the building, an old pressced tin ceiling with floral and
bird designs can be seen. In the 1940s and 1950s, Eureka Meat and
Groceries occupied the building (Nevada Telephone Directory
1949:16).

9. EUREKA OPERA HOUSE AND THEATRE (HP&A Bldg. No. 33)

During the 1870s and early 1880s, REureka had several theater
halls for operas, plays, concerts, ballroom dances, and other
social events, These included Bigelow's Hall, Eureka Hall, and
this building, the Eureka Opera House.

Bigelow's Hall was located on the corner of Buel and Bateman

streets and was erected about 1874 by Jesse D. Bigelow (Eureka
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Figure 6. William Zadow's buLchor shop in the 1880s, now the
post office, next door to the Eureka Opera House. William Zadow
is the third man from the right. "This photo was taken about the
same time as Figure 6, since both photos show the same poster
(Nevada Historical Society, neg. no. 57).
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Daily Sentinel, October 23, 1874). In 1878 or 1879, Bigelow's

Hall became known as the Eureka Opera House under proprietor Mason

B. Bartlett (Ads in Eureka Daily Republican, January 24, 1878;

Molinelli 1879:123). Often confused with the later Lureka Opera
House on Main Street, Bigelow's Hall or Opera House on Buel Street
was the starting point for the April 19, 1879 fire which destroyed
the northeastern part of downtown, 1including the opera house

(Eureka Daily Sentinel, April 20, 1879; Angel 1881:440). Bartlett

rebuilt the hall, only to have it destroyed again in the August,
1880, blaze (Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880).

The Eureka Hall was alsb on Buel Street just south of Clark
where the City Park is today (Sanborn Maps 1886, 1890). The
Eureka Hall Company, a public committee formed in 1879 with Thomas
Wren as president, had the hall built in that year for a little
over $11,000 with monecy raised from stocks purchased by local

merchants (Eureka Daily Sentinel, October 3, 1879, December 14,

1979; Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1879). It was a fine
brick theater with a seating capacity of about 750,
Unfortunately, the building was destroyed in the August, 1880,
fire. An attempt to rebuild it was initiated in December, 1880

(Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1880), but it was apparently

never completed (Sanborn Map 1886). Until after the turn-of-the-
century, the ruined walls of the Fureka llall were visible in the
town (Sanborn Maps 1886, 1890).

The Eureka Opera House on Main Street was constructed on the
foundation of the old 0dd Fellows Hall between October and

December 1880 by Richard Ryland, .Joseph Winzell, and M. D. Foley
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Figure 7. FEureka Opera louse on south Main Street in the 1880s.
As shown in the photograph, the Eureka Daily Leader, the town's
evening newspaper, occupied one of the front offices at the time.
(Nevada Historical Society, neg. no. 48).
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(Eureka Daily Sentinel, November 11, 1880). The 0dd Fellows Hall,

a large two-story stone structure owned by Alexander Forbes of San
Francisco, was destroyed earlier in the year during the

disasterous August [ire (Eurcka Dally Sentinel, August 18, 1880,

August 29, 1880; ECAR 1880:54). A contemporary account described
the new opera house as thoroughly fire-proof, with two-foot thick
masonry walls, a brick and iron front, and a slate roof. "The
auditorium is 55 feet deep by 40 in width, is level, and especial
care has been taken in the laying of the floor to have a good one

for dancing," wrote the Eureka Daily Sentinel on November 11,

1880. Seating capacity was estimated between 400 and 500 persons.
Two stores on the first floor in the front and offices on the
second floor were likewise a part of the original design. In the
1880s, the stores on the street contained a saloon and grocery

store (Sanborn Maps 1881, 1886). The office of rthe Fureka Daily

Leader was also here, as shown in an 1880s photograph (Figure 7).

The building became the Fureka Theatre in the 1920s and 1930s

"talkies" were shown. Fred

when first silent films and then
Bartine owned the building at that time, followed by the current
owners, the Pastorino family. The l1ast movie was shown in the
late 1950s (Marjory Pastorino, personal communication, 7-13-85).
Ads for local merchants painted in 1924 by the Twin City Scenic
Company can still be seen on the stage screen. Tours of the
inside are given by the owners for a nominal fee.
10. JACKSON HOUSE (HP&A Bldg. No. 31)

The Jackson House 1is a two-story brick hotel that was

originally built in 1877 by Andrew Jackson (ECAR 1878; Ad in

Eureka Daily Republican, January 24, 1878), a former lodging house
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proprietor in Hamilton in the early 1870s (Langely 1871:356; Ad in
Molinelli 1879:123). Earlier, Jacob Vanderleith had operated the
Cosmopolitan Hotel in a frame building at this same location, but
reopened his establishment on the corner of Bullion and Main
streets in summer 1877 (Ads in Fureka Daily Republican, July 35,
1877, August 25, 1877; ECAR 1877:147). Although gutted in the
August, 1880, blaze, the Jackson Hotel was rebuilt and operated

into the 1890s (Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880; Sanborn

Maps 1886, 1890). By 1907, it was renamed the Brown Hotel under
the proprietorship of Samuel T. Edwards (Sanborn Map 1907; Polk
1912:97). John B. Venturino ran the Brown llotel in the 1940s
(Nevada Telephone Directory.1949:16). In 1981, the establishment
was restored as the Jackson House (Hoekenga 1983:19).
11. ST. JAMES EPISCOPAL CHURCH (HP&A Bldg. No. 77)

St James Episcopal was Eureka's first stone church,
completed on July 28, 1872, one year after the cornerstone was
laid by TRishop Whitaker (Angel 1881:203-204). The building 1s
constructed of local volcanic tuff that was quarried nearby
(Figure 8). Services were regularly held until 1893 (Davis
1913:558-559), and by 1907, the church was closed (Sanborn Map
1907).

12. METHODIST CHURCH (Private Residence) (HP&A Bldg. No. 72)

The first Methodist Church in Eureka was built in 1875 on
this corner by Rev. John G. Gray (Angel 1881:212). The structure
was destroyed in the 1879 fire. A second frame church also bhurned
the next year. The present stone building was completed and

dedicated on April 17, 1881 (Angel 1881:212). However, by 1890
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Figure 8.
on Spring Street around 1900. The house on
some time between 1907 and 1941 (Nevada Historical Society,

neg. no.

Sunday gathering in front of St.

250).
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the church was vacant, and Methodist services were held after the
turn-of-the-century in the old Presbyterian Church on the west
side of town (Sanborn Maps 1890, 1907). Hooper's Garage occupied
the building during the 1920s (Al Biale interview, 7-13-85; 1924
ad on Eureka Theatre stage screen). Recently, the building has
been rennovated as a private residence,
13. RYLAND BUILDING (Private Resldence) (HP&A Bldg. No. 30)
Originally constructed in 1875 by Richard Ryland and known as
the Ryland Building, the present two-story brick structure was
rebuilt following the disasterous August, 1880, blaze (ECAR

1874:129, 1875:168; 1880:122; Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18,

1880). The building contained offices and bedrooms, and even a
restaurant in the 1870s and 1880s (Sanborn Map 1886). Attorney

George Baker had an office in 1878 (Ad in Eureka Daily Republican,

January 24, 1878), and Pecople's Resturant occupied space here in

1880 (Ad in Eureka Daily Sentinel, November 21, 1880). In recent
years, the building has been converted into a private residence.

Next door on the corner of Main and Bateman streets, which is
now a vacant lot, Jack Perry ran the Court louse Exchange Saloon
in the 1880s (ECAR 1880:113; Sanborn Map 1886; Ad in Molinelli
1879:119). Perry was marshall of Virglinia City during its wild
days 1in the 1860s and a friend of Mark Twain (Watson 1964:149,
177). Miraculously, Perry's frame building survived both the 1879
and 1880 fires.
14, FOLEY-RICKARD-JOHNSON-REMINGTON BUILDING (vacant)

(HP&A Bldg. No. 28)
Although this vacant building is not much to look at now, 1t

was originally an impressive two-story brick structure started 1in
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Figure 9.
and other
are shown
was taken
northeast

The two story Rickard-Foley-Johnson-Remington Building
buildings on the east side of Miyin below Bateman Stroeet
about 1912 during a Fourth of July parade. The photo
from the second floor of the Courthouse looking
(Nevada Historical Society, neg. no. 63).
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the fall of 1879 and completed in early 1880 by owners M. D. Foley

and Richard Rickard (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1879; ECAR

1880:128; Angel 1881:439). The Eureka Daily Leader on December

31, 1879, reported:

This building is of brick, two stories in height and has
a frontage on Main street of 51 1/2 feet, and runs back
to Buel street, 100 feet. On the first floor there are

three stores, and on the second a large Masonic and 0dd
Fellow's Hall and two suites of offices. Work was
commenced on it November 3d, and it is rapidly
approaching completion. Its cost, when completed, will

be in the neighborhood of $28,000, and it will be one of
the finest buildings in the town.

Previously, Abe Bateman had erected Eureka's first adobe

house in this spot (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1879; Angel

1881:439). The Remington, Johnson, and Company hardware store was
located in the northern portion of the present building in the
1880s and 1890s (Ad in Molinelli 1879:124; McKenney 1886:880;

Sanborn Maps 1886, 1890, 1907). A book and stationery store,

saloon, and Wells Fargo Express Office used other portions of the
first floor during this period; wupstairs was the Masonic and 0dd
Fellows Hall and other offices as noted above. During the 1920s,

groceries were sold in the old Remington store (Nevada Historical
Society Photo No. 9). The original iron pillasters or columns and
fire doors, manufactured by J. R. Sims, 123/125 Beale St., San
Francisco, remain today on the Remington store. Unfortunately,
the second story was demolished in 1983.
15. GOLD BAR (vacant) (HP&A Bldg. No. 27)

This brick building was constructed for the John A. Paxton

and Company Bank after the April, 1879, fire destroyed an earlier

bank structure (Eureka Daily Sentinel, April 20, 1879). John




Paxton had moved his banking business from Austin where he was
listed in an 1871 directory (Langley 1871:345). In 1885, the
Eureka County Bank under the direction of M. D. Foley, Daniel

Myer, R. K. Morrison, B. Gilman, and W. E. Griffin assumed control

of the Paxton and Company interests (Wren 1904:631; Ad in Eureka

Tri-Weekly Standard, April 30, 1886). A Western Union Telegraph

Office was added to the bank around 1890 (Sanborn Map 1890). The
Eureka County Bank continued to serve the community after the
turn-of-the-century and later was known as the Eureka Bank and
Trust Company. By 1941, a store occupled the building (Sanborn
Map 1941), and until recently, it was the Gold Bar. The three
decorated iron columns which have been painted yellow are part of
the original structure.
.16. STEPHENSON'S VIDEO STORE (HP&A Bldg. No. 26)

In the late 1870s, Maupin and Cromer, foilowed by Rudolph
Leuzinger, operated a hardware husiness at this location (Ad in

Eureka Daily Republican, July 5, 1877, January 24, 1878). The

present brick structure was erccted by Leuzinger after the 1879
fire (ECAR 1879:99,1880:85). 1In September 1879, when the building
"was completed, Jacob Cohn moved the Workingman's Clothing Store
here from the shop next door to the north and reopened as the

Bazaar Clothing Store (Eureka Weekly Sentinel, August 30, 1879;

Ads in Eureka Daily Leader, July 7, 1879, October 31, 1879).

Leuzinger retained ownership of the building, however (ECAR
1880:85, 1881:82). Several years later it became the Bazar

Clothing Emporium under proprietor D. Nathan (Ads in Eureka Daily

Sentinel, January 13, 1881, September 23, 1884: Angel 1881:441).

In the early 1900s, the Mau brothers, Ernest and William, sold
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clothing, shoes, books and stationery (Sanborn Map 1907; Polk
1912:97). Otto R. Mau had acquired the store by the 1920s and ran
it until his death in 1945 (1924 ad on Fureka Theatre stage
screen; Al Biale, interview, 7-13-85; see photo in Winzeler and
Peppin 1982:18). For several years after World War II, Truman's
Department Store was located here (Nevada Telephone Directory
1949:16; Al Biale, interview, 7-13-85). The building now contains
Stevenson's Video Store. Four original columns on the front were
cast by the Columbia Foundry in San Francisco, and the three pairs
of fire doors were made by J. R. Sims also of San Francisco.
17. TUMBLEWEED THEATER (HP&A Bldg. No. 129)

Although well-disguised by a modern stone and stucco front,
the Tumbleweed Theater is a brick structure that was erected in
1880 by Bremankampf and Regli, owners of the City Brewery and Soda

Works (ECAR 1881:19, McKenney 1882:637; Ad in Eureka Daily

Séntinel, November 21, 1880). The brewery had the distinction of
supplying the first beer in Eureka (Eureka Daily Leader, December
31, 1879; Angel 1881:439). Between 1890 and 1907, a barber shop
occupied the north half of the building along with the saloon
(Sanborn Map 1890, 1907). The building later served as the Bank
Club Bar in the 1920s and 1930s (Gladys Goeicoechea, personal
communication, 7-12-85) and was Bay's Fountain from about 1945 to
the 1960s (Maxine Rebaleati, personal communication, 6-27-85).
18. OWL CLUB CAFE

Hermann Vorberg's building, a two-story frame structure, was
located here in the 1870s (ECAR 1880:151). Vorberg ran the C. P.

Brewery downstairs, and upstairs was the Palace Saloon operated by
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Luther Clark (Ads in Molinelli 1879:119; Eureka Daily Leader, July

7, 1879; Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880). A one-story

saloon replaced the building after the 1880 fire. By 1886,
Reinhold Sadler, who later became governor, had acquired the
building (ECAR 1886:136). This location continued to serve as a
saloon in later years (Sanborn Map 1886, 1890, 1907).
19. RINKY DINK ROLLER RINK (HP&A Bldg. No. 25)

Joseph Mendes operated the notorious Tiger Saloon here in the
late 1870s and 1880s. On separate occasions in 1880, gunfights at

the saloon resulted in the deaths of two men (Eureka Daily Leader,

December 31, 1880). After the August, 1880, blaze, the saloon was
rebuilt as a two-story frame structure only 13 days. The saloon
and dance hall continued to operate into the 1890s (Sanborn Map
1886, 1890). The building was razed around the turn-of-the-
century (Sanborn Map 1907). In 1930, Mike Etchegaray built the
present two-story concrete structure which was used as a handball
court (Al Biale, interview, 7-13-85) and dance hall (Sanborn Map
1941).
20. NEVADA CLUB (HP&A Bldg. No. 24)

Beneath the new brick and metal exterior, the Nevada Club is
a brick building that was constructed in 1880 or 1881 by Joseph
Tognini and Company (ECAR 1881:138). Their earlier frame
structure on this lot was destroyed on March 15, 1880, in a small
fire that also claimed Schneider's drug store and Gregovich's

restaurant to the north (Eureka Daily Leader, March 16, 1880).

Tognini's saloon and H. Kayser's San Francisco Clothing Store
occupied the building at the time. Kayser subsequently moved

several doors up the street (Ad in Eureka Daily Sentinel, August

52

g

‘Fm

r~ rm™m



"B ed 4)

=

18, 1880). No sooner had the new saloon been completed, when it

was consumed by the conflagration in August of 1380 (BEureka Daily

Sentinel, August 18, 1880). It was then rebuilt as the present

brick structure. Since that time, the place has almost always
served as a saloon (Sanborn Map 1886, 1890, 1907). In the 1940s
and 1950s, Pete Laborde ran the Nevada Club. Today, it is owned
by Jim Dotson. The bar inside came from the small mining town of
Union south of Carlin (Biale 1983:152).

21. RAINE'S MARKET (HP&A Bldg. No. 22, 23)

Two historical brick buildings comprise what is now Raine's
Market. The northern portion was built in 1879 by W. J. Smith and
Company as a saloon (ECAR 1879:161). H. Kayser reopened The San
Francisco Clothing Store here Ln the spring of 1880 after the
Tognini building burned earlier in March and was fortunate to
survive the August fire (Ad and article in Fureka Daily Sentinel,
August 18, 1880). Wholesale liquors were sold in the building in
1886 by W. J. Tonkin (Sanborn Map 1886; ECAR 1886; McKenney
1886:881). Several years later it was once agaln a saloon and
also had a small shop selling mens' clothing (Sanborn Map 1890).
Later, the building contained a notions store (Sanborn Map 1907).
The Eureka Drug and Fountain operated a resturant and soda
fountain during the 1940s, until Raine's Market expanded their
store (Nevada Historical Society Photo No. 26; Sanborn Map 1941).

The southern half of Raine's Market was known as the Bishop
and Chamblin Building, after 1its owners, when this brick

structure was completed in June, 1880 (ECAR 1880:23; Eureka Daily

Leader, June 3, 1880, p. 3). Their earlier frame structure,
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occupied by F. J. Schneider's drugstore and Spiro Gregovich's

restaurant, burned on March 16, 1880 (Eureka Daily Sentinel, March

16, 1880). However, the new brick building did survive the fire

of August, 1880 (Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880; Angel

1881:441). F. J. Schneider moved back into the new building after

it was completed and maintained his drugstore for a number of

years afterward (Eureka Daily Leader, June 3, 1880; Ad in Fureka

Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880; McKenney 1882:640, 1886:880).

Brown, Tassel and Company, a boot and shoe outfit, moved into the

other store in the building at the same time (Eureka Daily Leader,

June 3, 1880). Later, a saloon in 1886 and an assay office in
1890 occupied this part of the building (Sanborn Maps 1886, 1890).
Mrs. H. M. Schneider ran the drug store in the 1910s (Polk
1912:98; Sanborn Map 1907). Kitchen Brothers Market was located
here in the 1940s and 1950s (Nevada Historical Society Photo No.
26; Nevada Telephone Directory 1949:16). Although the exterior
has been modified, a historical pressed tin ceiling, now painted
white with gold trim, is visible inside the building above the
cash registers.
22, FIRST INTERSTATE BANK (HP&A Bldg. No. 21)

Where the bank stands today, Ilam and llunter established
Eureka's first livery stable in the early 1870s (Langley 1871:352;

Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1879; Angel 1881:439). George

Thatcher built a stone building on this corner for a saloon prior
to 1873 (ECAR 1873:141). It was advertised as "The Corner! The

Largest and Finest Saloon in the State" in 1878 (Eureka Daily

Republican, January 22, 1878). The saloon was acquired by Charles

Lautenschlager in 1879, who promptly tore it down; he had nearly
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Sentinel, April 20, 1879; Eureka Daily Lea

completed a new brewery when the building was destroyed in the
fire of April, 1879 (Eurcka Daily Leader, April 19, 1879, p. 3;

Eureka Daily Sentinel, April 20, 1879). Lautenschlager erected

the present stone building by October of that year (Eureka Daily

ler, December 31, 1879).
A native of Germany who came to Eureka County 1in 1871,
Lautenschlager ran a saloon here in the 1880s which featured beer
from his Eureka DBrewery (Angel 1881:669; McKenney 1882:639,

1886:880; Ad in Eureka Tri-Weekly Standard, April 30, 1886;

Sanborn Map 1886). In the rear of the building, Ballich and
Company had the Old Corner Chop House during this time (McKenney
1886:878: Sanborn Map 1886).

Around 1912, Joseph Lani and Benjamin Repetto were operating
the saloon and Eureka Brewery (Polk 1912:97; Sanborn Map 1907).
By 1924, the Farmers and Merchants National Bank occupied the
building (1924 ad on Eureka Theatre stage screen) and was one of
the few banks in the United States to remain open during the
Depression (Al Biale, 1interview, 7~13-85). It later became a
branch of the First National Bank of Nevada and, in 1981, First
Interstate Bank. Volcanic tuff blocks used in the original
construction can be seen along Clark Streets.

23. MASONIC BUILDING (HP&A Bldg. No. 13)

During the late 1870s, James Whitton's American Exchange
Building stood on this corner. Advertisements in 1877 indicate
that stores and offices in the building were occupied by a tallor,
an attorney, and a resturant among others (Ads in Eureka Daily

Republican, July 5, 1877, July 6, 1877). The frame structure
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Figure 10. Masonic Building on the northeast corner of Main
and Clark streets around 1916. The Eurecka post office occupied
part of the building then. Notice the Maher and Manion dry goods

sign on the wall from the 1880s which

s visible even taday
(Nevada Historical Society, negp. no. )
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burned in the August 1880 fire, and Whitton erected the present

brick building (Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880; ECAR
1880:155; 1881:149). In the mid-1880s, the building contained the
dry goods store of Maher and Manion, Edward Wilhelm's jewerly
store, Casey's barber shop and bath house, M. Levy's tailor shop,
and George Gavin's tinsmith shop on the corner of Buel and Clark
streets (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1880, p. 3; Ads in

Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 24, 1884, September 23, 1884;

McKenney 1882:638-639; Sanborn Map 1886). The Maher and Manion
sign from that time is still partially visible today on the wall
facing Clark Street.

In 1907, the Eureka Post Office occupied the northern portion
of the building while the other shops were vacant (Sanborn Map
1907). The Masons and 0dd Fellows began holding meetings here
around this time (Nevada listorical Society Photo No. 51, dated
1916; Figure 10). Today, the Masons still use the basement
downstairs for meetings.

The two brick buildings next door to the north (HP&A Bldg.
No. 11, 12) were also built soon after the 1880 blaze (ECAR
188110, 73). In the 1880s, a grocery store owned by Hiram
Johnson and a post office under Postmaster W. J. Smith, as well as
Smith and Moser's bookstore, were located in the building now
occupied by Atlas Precious Metals (Sanborn Map 1886; Ads in Eureka

Daily Republican, January 22, 1878; Eureka Daily Sentinel, April

11, 1884; Eureka Tri-Weekly Standard, April 5, 1886; McKenney

1882:639-640, 1886:880). The vacant building with three fire
doors was in the 1880s Brown and Godfrey's Oyster Saloon, Chop

House, and Confectionery which was open twenty-four hours and the
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only candy manufacturer in Eureka (Ad in Fureka Daily Sentinel,
September 23, 1884; Sanborn Map 1886).
24, AL'S HARDWARE (IP&A Bldg. No. 5)

A portion of this stone building was built prior to 1873 by
James Whitton and served as a storehouse (ECAR 1873:155, 1874:167,
1875:214, 1876:220, 1877:50). Tt was purchased from Whitton by
Ferdinando Bonetti in 1877 (ECAR 1877:150). Bonetti and Gabriel
Morgantini owned and operated the Stone Saloon here in the late
1870s and early 1880s (ECAR 1878:17, 1879, 1880:13). At first,
the structure was two stories high, but was reduced to the present
one-story after it burned in the fires of 1879 and 1880 (see
Figure 11; Eureka Daily Sentinel, April 20, 1879, August 18, 1880;
Al Biale, interview, 7-13-85). Following Bonetti's death in 1882,
his wife, Louisa Bonetti, ran a boarding house and Morgantini
continued to run the saloon. In 1903, John liale, lLouisa
Bonetti's son-in-law, opened the Eureka Cash Store in the building
(Figure 12). It operated until 1946, when Albert Biale started
the hardware store that has continued to the present and is
currently run by Jerry White, Al's son-in-law (Al Biale,
interview, 7-13-85; Jerry White, personal communication, 7-13-85).
Thus, Al's Hardware is the only family-owned store in Enreka that
has continuously operated since thé 1870s.

25. SITE OF EUREKA CONSOLIDATED SMELTER

In summer 1870, Colonel David E. Buel and Issac C. Bateman,
for whom Buel and Bateman streets were named, built two furnaces
at thls locatlon for smelting ores from the Champion and Buckeye

mines (Molinelli 1879:16). Bateman was also president of the
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Figure 11. Ruins of Bonetti and Morgantini's Stone
Saloon on north Main Street taken soon after the
disasterous April 19, 1879 fire. The first story
of the building is now Al's llardware. The original
photo was a slerecopraphic view which was taken by
Bureka photographer Louis Monaco (ﬁ_lﬁl:_:'rl' _I___ Biale

collection, courtesy of the llistorical Society of

Fureka).
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Figure 12, Interior of the FHureka Cash Store on north Main
Street in 1926, now Al's lardware. From left to right,

Clotilde Biale, Clarence .Johnson, John B. Biale, Albert F. Biale,
and Fred Bartine (Albert F. RBiale collection, courtesy of the

Historical Socicty of Enreka).
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Austin City Water Works at the time (Langley 1871:344). The
Fureka Consolidated Mining Company later purchased the furnaces
along with these mines and erected three other furnaces at this
site. The Eureka Consolidated furnaces had a combined capacity of
300 tons daily in 1879 (Figure 13).

The Eureka Consolidated and other furnaces in town had two
major environmental effects. First, poisonous fumes from smelting
the silver-lead ores created deadly health problems for the
residents. These fumes tended to hang over Eureka, which gave
rise to the town's title "Pittsburg of the West" as early as 1871
(Reichman 1967:69). The problem was somewhat alleviated when the
Eureka and Richmond smelters piped the fumes to smoke stacks on
the hillsides above their operations in order to release it 1into
the air at a higher level. The ditch for the Eureka Consolidated
smoke stack can still be seen on the slope in this area. Second,
large quanities of charcoal were required to fuel the furnaces.
Each ton of ore smelted required twenty-five to thirty-five
bushels of charcoal. In just 1880 alone, an estimated 1.25
million bushels of charcoal were burned (Young and Budy 1979:117).
Thus, the mountains around Eureka as far as thirty miles away were
stripped of pinyon and juniper trees which were reduced to
charcoal by Ttalian woodcutters and charcoal burners.

The furnace product or base bullion from the Eureka
Consolidated smelter was shipped by rail to the Pattinson
Reduction Works in Newark, New Jersey, and then after 1877, to San

Francisco for refining (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1879).

One source estimated that $16,250,00 worth of bullion had been

processed by the close of 1879 (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31,
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13. The Eureka Consoliduted swelfver al the north end
n the 1870s or 1880s. U. S, Highway 50 is now located
about where the furnaces

(Nevada Nistorical

wvere. Only slag piles remain at the
Society, neg. no, 79).
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1979). The FEureka Consolidated also constructed a narrow gauge
railroad to transport ores from their mines at Ruby Hill to the
smelter, a dLlstance of about three miles. Soon after 1its
completion 1in 1875, the Ruby Hill Railroad was purchased by the

Eureka and Palisade Railroad (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31,

1879; Molinelli 1879:16-17, 26; Myrick 1962:91). In 1891, the
Eureka Consolidated smelter ceased operations. Today, only piles
of slag and pieces of metal remain.
26. HISTORICAL TOGNINI AND COMPANY BUILDING (HP&A Bldg. No. 8)
Tognini and Company erected this brick building in 1877 (ECAR
1877:142) after owning a canvas and frame building in this sanme
lot in earlier years (ECAR 1875:196, 1876:201, 1877:142). This
Swiss-Italian company, which included Joseph Tognini, Ferdinando
Bonetti, and Gabriel Zanoli, operated the Fureka Billiard Hall
Saloon in the late 1870s and 1880s (Sanborn Map 1886; Ad in Eureka

Tri-Weekly Standard, April 30, 1886; Al Biale, interview, 6-28-

85). As with many other Italians in Eureka at the time, the
company was involved in charcoal production; it also was one of
the largest of these companies. In 1880, the company was assessed
for owning a total of 31,000 bushels of charcoal valued at $2,080,
1,500 cords of wood at $1,600, 100 cords of cedar (juniper) wood
at $200, fourteen horses and mules at $950, another three horses
and one mule at $200, three wagons at $450, and another one at $25
(ECAR 1880:144). 1In addition, Tognini and Company owned seven 160
acre parcels of timber land in the Antelope Mining District
located five to seven miles northeast of Chimney Station on the

Eureka and Palisade Railroad. Today, the brick building has been
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painted a cream color and is used for storage. Note the star
plates and rods on the side for holding the walls together.

The building attached to the north (HP&A Bldg. No. 7) was
built 1in 1924 by John Biale. The front bricks are the same as
those wused for the school built on Adam Street about the same
time, and other portions contain bricks salvaged from the Pinto
Mill that was located several miles southeast of town (Al Biale,
interview, 6-28-85). Notice the "Trupak Peaches" sign from the
1930s painted on the north side of the building. This location is
also the site of Eureka's first business establishment. In June
of 1869, the Pioneer Resturant, which consisted of a canvas tent,
was opened here by John S. Capron for boarding the men at W. W.

McCoy's nearby furnace (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1879 ;

Molinelli 1879:22; Angel 1881:439). In the original townsite
survey by Monroe, this area was referred to as the Furnace Block,
after McCoy's furnace which was located to the north near the
corner of Robbins and Main streets. Later in the 1880s, Joseph
Vanina's store was located in this spot next door to tha Topnini
and Company Building (ECAR 1880:151; Angel 1881:439)., Vanina was
also involved heavily in the charcoal business, whose assets in
charcoal, cords of wood, horses, mules, and wapons exceeded that
of Tognini and Company (ECAR 1881:151).

Another note of historical importance in this area concerns
the brick building just up to street to the north which has a
"Castorlube Motor 0il" sign painted on the side (HP&A Bldg. No.
3). Originally two stories high, the structure was erected about
1879 by another Ttalian company under Celso Tatti and served as a

saloon (ECAR 1878:168, 1879:167, 1880:143; misspelled as Colso
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Tatti 1in Shepperson 1969:24 and Celso Tolli in Earl 1969:57,
1979:118 and Winzeler and Peppin 1982:16). It was in Tatti's
saloon that about 500 Italian carbonari or charcoal burners formed
the Eureka Coalburners Protective Association on July 6, 1879,
which figured prominently in the Charcoal Burners War (Eureka

Daily Leader, July 7, 1879; Reichman 1967:48; Grazeola 1969:35;

Earl 1969, 1979). .
27. ALPINE LODGE AND LOUIE'S LOUNGE (HP&A Bldg. No. 133,143,144)

While the buildings that extend from Louie's Lounée to the
Alpine Lodge Bar on the corner have been modified extensively or
rebuilt, this portion of Main Street has a 1long history of
businesses. Myers and Frénklin, two Jewish dry goods merchants
(Stern 1982), erected the stone building now occupied by Louie's
Lounge in 1874 (ECAR 1873:93; 1874:99). Cesare Rossetti acquired
the building in 1876 and still owned it in 1886 when books were
sold in the front and lodgings were let 1in the rear (ECAR
1876:168, 1886; Sanborn Map 1886). In the 1930s and early 1940s,
the building served as a Works Progress Administration sewing room
(A1 Biale, interview, 7-13-85; Sanborn Map 1941). Locally
quarried tuff blocks from the original construction are visible in
the alley along the north wall.

Next door to the south, Oberfelder and Harrison, two other
Jewish merchants, built this stone and brick structure in 1873 or
earlier and sold general merchandise (ECAR 1873:102; Langley
1871:352; Stern 1982:96). Earlier, Harrison and another Jewish

partner, Solomon Nathan, had opened Fureka's first store in the

Tannehill log cabin (Eureka Daily Leader, December 31, 1879; Angel




1881:439). In 1875, Reinhold Sadler and Company bought out
Oberfelder and Harrison and continued to operate a general store
here into the 1880s (ECAR 1875:178, 1880:137; Sanborn Map 1886; Ad

in Eureka Daily Sentinel, August 18, 1880).

The next building up the street was built by Isidore Baron as
a store prior to 1873 (ECAR 1873:16, 1874:14). Between 1875 and
1880, David Manheim owned and operated a clothing store in the
bdilding (ECAR 1875:129, 1877:87; 1878:109; 1879:116; 1880:94).
By 1886, a general store occupied the building (Sanborn Map 1886).

Where the Alpine Lodge is located, a two story frame building
existed in the 1880s. A dry goods store was downstairs, while
upstairs was the San Francisco Lodging House under proprietors P,

S. Quaid in 1882 and C. H. Blaser in 1886 (Sanborn Map 1886;

McKenney 1882:639; Ad in Eureka Tri-Weekly Standard, August 6,
1886). A portlon of Lthe San lrancisco Lodging Hcuse is shown in
an 1880s photograph (Figure 1). Around 1890, William Zadow moved
his butcher shop from a building next to the Eureka Opera House
(currently the Eureka Post Office) to this location, a business
which he operated here for well over twenty years (Polk 1912:98).
His son Rudolf “Zadow had a garage next door when the Lincoln
Highway opened in 1915-1916 (Sanborn Map 1890, 1907: Al Biale,
interview, 7-13-85). These buildings were torn down saometime
before 1941 (Sanborn Map 1941), and the present building for the
Alpine Lodge was constructed afterward.

The first story of the brick building on the corner of Clark
and Main streects, now occupied by the Alpine Lodge Bar, may date
from 1875. Jewish merchant O. Dunkel erected a brick structure

here in that year for a clothing store which he operated in the
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1870s and 1880s (ECAR 1875:44; 1880:37; Sanborn Map 1886).
Offices and the American Lodging House run by Mrs. S. J. Dill in
1877 and later by Mrs. Dunkel were on the second floor (Ad in

Eureka Daily Republican, July 5, 1877; McKenney 1882:638). The

cosmopolitan nature of Eureka during that time period is shown 1in
an ad for Dr. L. Bazet, a physician and surgeon in the building
who advertized "Consultation in English, French, Spanish, and

Italian" (Ad in Eureka Daily Republican, January 24, 1878). After

the turn-of-the-century, Mrs. Fraser sold dry goods on the first
floor (Sanborn Map 1907; Polk 1912:97; Al Biale, interview, 7-13-
85). In 1941, the place was known as the Lincoln Hotel (Sanborn
Map 1941; Al Biale, interview, 7-13-85).
28. EUREKA CAFE (HP&A Bldg. No. 44)

William H. Clark, for whom Clark Street was named, erected
the northern half of this two-story stone building prior to 1873
(ECAR 1873:26). Locally quarried volcanic tuff from the original
congtruction 1is visible on the north wall along Clark Street and
on the second story. Clark ran a general merchandise and hardware
store here in the 1870s (ECAR 1875:31, 1878:35; Ad in Molinelldi
1879121 .. Upstairs were offices for doctors, dentists, and
attorneys, including the office of Thomas Wren, a notable attorney

and Nevada legislator (Ads in Eureka Daily Republican, January 24,

1878; Eureka Tri-Weekly Standard, April 30, 1886; McKenney

1882:640). F. W. Clute acquired the general store in late 1879
and continued to operate it in the 1880s, although Clark's widow

retained ownership of the building (Ad in Eureka Daily Leader,

October 31, 1879; McKenney 1882:637; ECAR 1886; Sanborn Map 1886).
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Figore 14, @ The @
and Clark streets
to the hotel was
Cafe now occupies

neg. no.''32).

alel Zadow on the couathwest corner ol Main
sometime alter 1900, By 1907, anaddition
constructed nesxt door on the lefr., The Furela

this building (Nevada Historical Society,
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By 1907, the building had been coverted into the Zadow Hotel,
owned by William Zadow and operated by A. T. Taylor (Sanborn Map
1907; Polk 1912:97-98; Figure 14). Tt was about this time that the
south half of the building was added. As can be seen on the
second floor, the stone work does not quite match the original
northern half of the building. When the Lincoln Highway was
opened in 1915-1916, rooms at the Zadow Hotel cost $2.50 per day
under the American Plan (Ad in Lincoln Highway Association
1916:139), a real bargin at today's prices! In the 1920s, Ed
Herrea acquired the property and chang